# COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

FEARGHAL MCCARTHY; CONOR MCCARTHY, a minor, by and through Fearghal McCarthy, his father; and CORMAC MCCARTHY, a minor, by and through Fearghal McCarthy, his father.

Appellants

vs.

COUNTY OF CLARK, CITY OF VANCOUVER, DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL AND HEALTH SERVICES, CHILDREN'S PROTECTIVE SERVICES.

Respondents

Appeal from the Superior Court of Clark County
Case No. 08-2-04895-4

# OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT FEARGHAL MCCARTHY

Fearghal McCarthy Appellant, pro-se;

17508 NE 38<sup>th</sup> Way, Vancouver, WA 98682 360-944-8200 fearghalmccarthy001@gmail.com

Filed: March 9th, 2015

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION II

2015 MAR | | PM |: 02

#### I. INTRODUCTION

Fearghal was falsely arrested because a law officer wanted a court to issue no-contact orders to separate Fearghal from his children. A DSHS caseworker, under special supervisory review for fabricating records and scores of shoddy investigations "that had a direct bearing on child safety", investigated. Wanting Fearghal to have no chance of getting custody of his children in a divorce, a City prosecutor stepped outside her advocacy role directing Fearghal's spouse, Patricia, to go fact-finding: instructing her on what to say to police so as to falsely report new criminal allegations, and on what to testify to in civil court so as to stop Fearghal's contact with his children. Upon multiple violations of domestic violence restraining orders by Patricia, police did not intervene. When Fearghal reported abuse and neglect regarding his children, DSHS and police did not investigate. These actors individually and collectively prevented courts from having material information from unbiased non-faulty investigations, causing Fearghal's criminal matter resolution and harmful separation from his children to be prolonged; exposing Fearghal to risk of deportation that would irreparably sever his bond with his children; and causing Fearghal severe emotional distress and economic injury. They acted intentionally and recklessly.

#### II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The trial court erred in granting summary judgment to Clark County for false arrest, false imprisonment, outrage, negligent investigation, negligence and negligent infliction of emotional distress; and in denying reconsideration of summary judgment.
- 2. The trial court erred in granting summary judgment to DSHS for negligent investigation, negligence, outrage, reckless disregard, and negligent infliction of emotional distress.

- 3. The trial court erred in granting summary judgment to the City of Vancouver for malicious interference with parent-child relationship, outrage, negligent investigation, negligence, gender discrimination and negligent infliction of emotional distress; in denying reconsideration of summary judgment; and in awarding the City its costs.
- 4. The trial court erred by suppressing Patricia's corrections to her deposition testimony.

#### Issues pertaining to assignments of error

- a. Is summary judgment error on the claims against the County when, viewing factual inferences in the light most favorable to Fearghal: the same officer who arrested Fearghal controlled the flow of information to the judge who made the probable cause finding; and the officer did not have probable cause to arrest? (Assignment of Error 1).
- b. Is summary judgment error on the claims for breaches of duty under RCW 26.44 against the County when, viewing factual inferences in the light most favorable to Fearghal; upon being asked to investigate possible child neglect, abuse or endangerment, their law officers either failed to investigate or conducted faulty investigations. (Assignments of Error 1).
- c. Is summary judgment error on the claims for breaches of duty under RCW 10.99, RCW 26.50 and RCW 10.31.100(2) against the County and City when, viewing all factual inferences as favorable to Fearghal: (1) their law officers took no action upon having probable cause to believe a domestic violence crime has been committed; (2) their law officers enforced criminal complaints made by Fearghal against Patricia differently than if a complainant had made the same criminal complaint against a non-family member: and (3) their law officers failed to enforce domestic violence laws because enforcement would impact child placement decisions? (Assignments of Error 1 & 3).
- d. Is summary judgment error on the claims against the City when, viewing all factual inferences in the light most favorable to Fearghal: the City prosecutor stepped into a non-advocacy role; (1) conducting investigative activities and controlling the flow of information being reported to the police, and (2) directing Patricia to testify falsely in civil proceedings so as to affect child placement decisions so that they would be adverse to Fearghal? (Assignment of Error 3).

- e. Is summary judgment error on the claims against the County and the City when, viewing all factual inferences in the light most favorable to Fearghal: the prosecutor breached her statutory duties owed to Fearghal under RCW 10.99.060? Did the Legislature intend for a remedy to be available when prosecutors breach their duties owed a person under RCW 10.99.060? (Assignments of Error 1 & 3)
- f. Should a jury determine if DSHS recklessly committed acts harmful to Fearghal and demonstrated wanton misconduct when, viewing all factual inferences as favorable to Fearghal: DSHS willfully retained and assigned Dixson to investigate the McCarthy referrals regardless of supervisory concerns that Dixson's history of fabricating reports and faulty investigations had "a directing bearing on child safety"; and Dixson then conducted a faulty investigation causing the prolonged harmful separation of Fearghal from his children, Fearghal's severe emotional distress and other injury? (Assignment of Error 2)
- g. Is summary judgment error on the claims against DSHS when, viewing all factual inferences as favorable to Fearghal: DSHS failed to deliver findings of an unbiased non-negligent investigation within the 90-day timeframe specified in RCW 26.44.030(12)(a), thus denying material information to (1) Clark County courts that made civil child placement decisions, and (2) Clark County courts and the City prosecutor who made decisions to seek or impose no-contact orders precluding Fearghal from seeing his children, and to continue prosecution of the matter being investigated by DSHS? (Assignment of Error 2)
- h. Is summary judgment to the County, DSHS and City error when, viewing all factual inferences in favor of Fearghal: the defendants fail to prove the absence of genuine issues of material fact that evidence liability for Fearghal's claims? (Assignment of Error 1, 2 & 3).
- i. Should proximate cause be determined in this action using the substantial factor standard because the defendants individually and collectively caused the prolonged harmful separation of Fearghal from his children. Fearghal was a member of a protected class under RCW 26.44 and RCW 10.99, and the defendants had duties to exchange information under RCW 26.44.035. (Assignments of Error 1, 2 & 3)
- j. Is suppressing Patricia's corrections to her deposition testimony error? Is Ms. Kraemer's deposition testimony moot because it was not obtained in compliance with CR 31? (Assignments of Error 1, 2, 3 & 4).

#### III. STATEMENT OF FACTS

#### A. Background Facts

Fearghal (/Far-gal/) and Patricia McCarthy married in 1998 and have two children, Conor (born 7/16/99) and Cormac (born 5/10/03), CP 406-407. During the marriage, Patricia experienced panie attacks, insomnia and depression, and was referred for mental health treatment. CP 401. In June 2004, Patricia's bipolar sister suicided. Patricia began reporting visions of her dead sister and other delusions. Id. Patricia suffered from various paranoid fears such as hospital staff plotting against her, "frightening visions that are not real", that she was going to harm Cormac, and more CP 407,¶2.11 Patricia's psychiatrist recommended psychiatric evaluation and cognitive behavior therapy. Id. Patricia took psychotropic drugs for her mental health issues along with prescription narcotics for complaints of pain and became drug dependent. CP 408,¶2.13. By Spring 2005, Patricia's drug abuse was substantial. CP 401. She believed her dead sister and an angel visited her at night; and a raptor behind their backyard was her dead sister. CP 1938, 2010. Marital discord developed regarding Patricia's drug dependency, CP 410,¶2.16. Patricia became fearful that she would lose custody of the children in the event of a divorce. Id.

#### B. Kingrey's Investigation

As the one year June anniversary of her sister's suicide approached, Patricia was relying on medications more and more, CP 1955. On 6/1/05, Patricia was out of medications and having panic attacks. CP 401. Late afternoon on 6/2/05, Patricia came home high on narcotics obtained on a new prescription. Id. Fearghal and Patricia quarreled about Patricia's

escalating drug abuse resulting in Fearghal threatening divorce. Fearghal and Patricia later reconciled before going to bed. CP 401-402.

At 12.51pm on 6/3/05, Kingrey contacted Patricia by phone Patricia told Kingrey she was with the children and her mother, Regina, at St. Joseph's Church to seek shelter. Patricia alleged, the evening prior on 6/2/05, Fearghal struck Cormac twice on his head "so hard that he hit his head on the table then fell on the floor." Kingrey "asked it Cormac had any injuries." Patricia reported "no visible marks." CP 1825-1827.

Kingrey went to the McCarthy residence and interviewed Fearghal CP 1806-1807, p16, p24. Fearghal reported he did not strike Cormac and denied ever having physically abused his wife, saying "I've gotten angry and yelled on occasion, but never touched her." CP 1828. Fearghal told Kingrey that Patricia had been abusing pain medications, had been high on prescription pain inedications the night before, had been reporting various delusions in the last year since her sister committed suicide, and was also taking medication for anxiety and other mental health issues. CP 1789.1

Kingrey then arrested Fearghal on two charges of Assault IV-DV: 1) Cormac and ii) Patricia CP 1828, 1556 Kingrey took Fearghal to CCLEC (i.e. jail). Kingrey returned to the McCarthy home where he met Patricia for the first time in person and obtained a DV Victim Statement from her. Patricia then told Kingrey that she didn't need shelter after all because she would stay with her parents who lived locally. CP 1828.

At a domestic violence scene, Kingrey is supposed to assess whether

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See also CP 1828, Fearghal reported "Patricia takes medication for anxiety and I think the medication is making lier defusional". When questioned as to Patricia's mental health Fearghal reported, "Her older sister committed suicide and its affected her, I believe".

drugs are being abused but he did not do so. CP 1544:p42,17-25, p43,1-9. Kingrey ignored Fearghal's statements that Patricia was high on drugs on the early evening of 6/2/05, and that a quarrel ensued over Patricia's drug abuse. CP 401-2,¶9-10 Kingrey dismissed Fearghal attempts to explain Patricia's history of anxiety, panic attacks and drug use. Id.¶10. Fearghal showed Kingrey the various medications Patricia was taking; but Kingrey told Fearghal it did not matter. CP 1789. Kingrey doesn't recall been shown the bathroom medicine cabinet, but testified that a collection of opiates in the cabinet would not have caused him concern about Patricia's veracity; and Fearghal's statements about Patricia's psychiatric history had no impact on his assessments of veracity. CP 1540:p26,10-21;p28,14-17. After being told about Patricia's drug abuse, Kingrey did not ask for any evidence or proof to validate substance abuse as a factor in his investigation. CP 1542;p35-36. Kingrey testified he did not raise Fearghal's statements about Patricia's drug abuse and mental health status with Patricia prior to arresting Fearghal because he "was convinced in his own mind that she was telling the truth and these facts actually happened." CP 1541:p30,4-14. Kingrey testified he made no allowance that Fearghal's statements to him might have been true\_CP 1542: p32,18-21.

Even though there was no imminent threat to Patricia or the children; Kingrey arrested Fearghal because "<u>he thought a no-contact order would</u> <u>be a good thing to have at the time and the only way to get that was to book [arrest] Mr. McCarthy"</u>; because he knew the "no-contact order would preclude Fearghal from seeing the children"; and because he knew the no-contact order and arrest would become factors in Fearghal not

having access to his children and future determinations about Fearghal being allowed by courts to see his children. CP 1543: p38-39.

Kingrey testified he had "of course" come across situations where a spouse used an abuse allegation to gain advantage in a domestic dispute, there is a risk of false allegations in domestic violence settings; and he would typically interview third party witnesses who had observed an alleged assault because "you couldn't be sure who was telling the truth." CP 1544:p41,19-25, p42,1-16. Kingrey knew that Conor was a witness. CP 1827. Kingrey was unable to explain why he did not interview Conor, the only third party percipient witness. CP 1544 p43,17-22.

Kingrey typically must assess a witness's demeanor and credibility by meeting with them in person. CP 1545:p46,6-10 CP 1549:p63,8-12. The 911 call evidences this protocol with the operator telling Patricia that a deputy would first need to come to talk to her in person prior to talking with Fearghal. CP 535. Kingrey didn't bother go see Patricia in person at 12.51pm *prior* to making the arrest; he testified he didn't do so due to time constraints; nonetheless, he drove the 24 miles from the McCarthy home (passing St. Joseph's Church) to the CCLEC and back to the home to meet Patricia for the first time *after* arresting Fearghal; Kingrey's shift didn't end until 6pm; and Kingrey says he didn't interview or examine the minor children because overtime would have to be authorized by the sergeant. CP 1545-1546:p46-p47,p52,18-25. Kingrey testified that it would not have made any difference to his decision to arrest Fearghal if Patricia and her

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> After Fearghal was arrested, Patricia withdrew approximately \$70,000 from Fearghal and Patricia's joint checking account. Patricia later admitted she called the police to get control over the children and maintal assets in the event of a divorce. CP 1427, ¶5

mother had significant issues with veracity, CP 1545, p50.

Kingrey testified he would have expected to see bruising on Cormac based on the violent nature of the alleged assault. CP 1544:p44.1-14. Kingrey had knowledge and experience of bruise progression and bruises turning from red to dark-purple to green fading to yellow after a week to ten days. CP 1541-1542:p31-33. Kingrey confirmed there was no evidence of any physical trauma suffered by any of the complainants and no signs of any disturbance in the house the night prior. CP 1544-1545: p44,22-25; p45,1-6. Kingrey didn't independently verify whether Cormac had any bruising or injury; and did not recall seeing the children at all. CP 1541: p31,14-19. Kingrey did not take any photographs because "there was nothing there to take any photographs of". CP 1544:p43,23-25. When asked to reconcile the lack of bruising on Cormac with the violent nature of the acts alleged, Kingrey admitted "I have no knowledge of injuries because I didn't see the boy". CP 1547, p54, 20-25.

Kingrey did not check or confirm that Fearghal had no prior criminal history, or inquire with neighbors to see if they'd observed anything violent CP 1543, p40. Kingrey testified that Fearghal was not enraged or threatening in any way. CP 1542; p36,23-25. Yet, Kingrey felt Fearghal displayed the classic behavior of an abuser based on "denial, you know, shifting the blame, that's about it", but he did not know how Fearghal's behavior was any different from how an innocent person would respond to a false complaint. CP 1545-1546; p48,18-25, p49,1-2.

Kingrey showed no concern that, if Patricia's allegations were actually true, Cormac should have been promptly taken to hospital for examination for

head trauma. Kingrey did not form an opinion as to whether Cormac was actually injured, he didn't tell Patricia to take Cormac to the hospital; but nevertheless concluded "if my child had a severe injury, I would certainly look into getting it treated". CP 1550 p67,1-18;p68, 6-13. Kingrey did not refer the incident to CPS for further investigation. CP 1825 - 1828.

Petty interviewed Conor in January 2006. Petty told Patricia to leave the room when Patricia yelled at Conor for contradicting her allegations. One week later, on 1/11/06, Conor was interviewed by Petty and attorney Jon McMullen. Conor was emphatic that Fearghal did not hit Cormac and was not abusive; that Patricia was not being honest; and that she would get angry at him if he would not say "her truth" CP 413,¶2.24 CP 1780, ¶5.

Lieutenant Hall testified as an expert CP 1851-1854. Hall's expert opinion was that (i) Kingrey lacked probable cause to arrest Fearghal, (ii) Kingrey's investigation "was rife with many errors", and (iii) Kingrey displayed an unwarranted predisposition toward arrest. CP 1851-2.3 Hall

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Lt. Hall testified that his expert opinion was based upon the following factors:

<sup>(1)</sup> Kingley made the ariest based on a cold report taken telephonically 18 hours after the incident without any independent evidence to corroborate a crime. Significantly, Kingrey had ample time to make a thorough investigation prior to arresting Fearghal because there was no imminent danger to Patricia or the children. CP 1852.

<sup>(2)</sup> Kingrey had little or no interest in information provided by Fearghal about his wife's drug abuse. At a minimum, Kingrey should have inquired for proof as a means of either proving or disproving what may have been exculpatory evidence offered by the alleged perpetrator. CP 1852.

<sup>(3)</sup> Kingrey had a complete lack of interest in evidence Fearghal offered as to Patricia's mental imbalance, which may have played a role in her perception of the events she was reporting. Patricia's coherence at midday on June 3 on the telephone was not necessarily evidence of her coherence at the time of the alleged incident on June 2. Kingrey could have deferred the airest in order to resolve inconsistencies in the evidence, which would have obviated the need for any airest. CP 1852-3.

<sup>(4)</sup> Regina, Patricia's mother, was not an eye-witness to the incident and therefore could not offer relevant testimony CP 1853. There were only three percipient witnesses who had capacity to testify. Conor, Patricia, and Fearghal. CP 1852.

noted substantial concerns that Kingrey made an arrest in order to affect later child placement decisions, evidenced by Kingrey's comments in deposition as to his rationale behind his decision to arrest. CP 1854.

On 6/3/05, Kingrey submitted a Declaration of Probable Cause (the "PC Declaration") to Judge Schreiber for a finding of probable cause. CP 1557-8. Kingrey's PC Declaration omitted exculpatory evidence that: (1) there were no injuries or bruises of any kind on either Cormac or Patricia; (2) no-one took Cormac to hospital for examination for head trauma; (3) Kingrey was unable to reconcile the lack of bruises on Cormac with the violent nature of the alleged assault, (4) Patricia was taking medication for mental health issues (5) Patricia had been experiencing delusional thoughts exasperated by her sister's suicide, (6) Patricia was abusing pain medications, (7) Patricia was high on narcotics from a new prescription at the time of the alleged incident, and (8) Patricia lied when she reported to Kingrey she would stay in a shelter when she knew she would stay with her parents who lived nearby. On 6/5/05, relying solely on Kingrey's PC Declaration, Judge Schreiber found there was probable cause.

On 6/6/05, Fearghal was arraigned, released, and issued with a five-year no contact order (the "NCO") prohibiting him from any contact with Cormac or from "coming within 500ft of the residence or workplace - includes school and daycare of the children." CP 1670.

<sup>(5)</sup> Kingrey was looking to arrest hearghal evidenced by: (a) Kingrey did not make any attempt to interview or observe the children, (b) Kingrey only had to ask for Fearghal's cell phone to verify Fearghal's attempts to locate Patricia instead of reporting Fearghal was only "acting", and (c) Kingrey's supervisor, Sergeant Shea, testified that time or budgetary considerations do not restrict deputies from interviewing a complainant who is in the County CP 1853.

#### C. DSHS's Investigation

Two days after the incident, on 6/4/05, Regina took Cormac to Kaiser Clinic. CP 1996. Only Regina and Cormac were present per the medical report. Id The physician saw "nothing of permanent physical concern" noting a "slight yellow bruise non-tender". CP 1996-7. The physician called CPS after Regina recounted Patricia's allegations. CP 1997. The physician referred Patricia for neglect because of the delay in having Cormac medically examined for head trauma. CP 1373, 1375.

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