#### NO. 46347-4-II

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

FEARGHAL MCCARTHY; CONOR MCCARTHY, minor by and through Fearghal McCarthy, his father; and CORMAC MCCARTHY, a minor, by and through Fearghal McCarthy, his father,

Appellants,

v.

COUNTY OF CLARK, CITY OF VANCOUVER, DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL AND HEALTH SERVICES, CHILDRENS PROTECTIVE SERVICES,

Respondent.

FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR CLARK COUNTY CLARK COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT CAUSE NO. 08-2-04895-4

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT CLARK COUNTY, WASHINGTON

ANTHONY F. GOLIK Prosecuting Attorney Clark County, Washington

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

In this case, the trial court correctly concluded Deputy Kingrey had probable cause to arrest Fearghal for Assault in the Fourth Degree. This conclusion was supported by *both* the undisputed facts relating to Mr. McCarthy's arrest, as well as a review of the facts by *two* separate judges.

In this case, the undisputed facts of June 2-3, 2005, conclusively support the finding of probable cause because a reasonable and prudent law enforcement officer encountering these facts would believe in good faith that the law was violated. First, Patricia McCarthy called 9-1-1 and then reported to Deputy Kingrey that Fearghal McCarthy had "whacked" their two-year old son, Cormac, across the head, which resulted in the child striking his head on a table and then falling to the floor. (CP 1530).

Secondly, Deputy Kingrey obtained corroborating information from Patricia's mother, Regina Greer, who stated that she spoke with the McCarthy's oldest son, Conor, who confirmed the fact that Fearghal had indeed struck Cormac across the head. *Id.* Finally, following the arrest, Patricia provided a sworn handwritten *Smith* Affidavit reiterating what she had already told Deputy Kingrey regarding the assault of Cormac on June 2, 2005. As noted above, the Court of Appeals has held in *State v. Smith* that such an affidavit is *more likely to be true* than testimony offered at trial because it is closer to the events in question. *Id.* at 861. This is especially true in a domestic violence case where victims often become reluctant to testify. Ultimately, these facts alone support a finding of probable cause to arrest.

On appeal, Plaintiffs contend that Fearghal's statements to Deputy Kingrey regarding Patricia's anxiety medication and delusions somehow preclude a finding of probable cause. This position is not supported by Washington law or the facts of this case and wrongly assumes that Deputy Kingrey was required to believe Fearghal McCarthy. As noted above, Washington law does not require that Deputy Kingrey discover, weigh or evaluate all of the potential evidence in the case. That is the responsibility of the court and the parties and fact-finder throughout the criminal case. Patterson, at 55. Rather, as the investigating law

enforcement officer making a probable cause determination, Deputy
Kingrey need only have knowledge of facts sufficient to cause a
reasonable person to believe that an offense had been committed. Patricia
McCarthy's statements and Regina Greer's corroborating information
provided Deputy Kingrey with more than sufficient information for a
reasonable person to believe that Mr. McCarthy had committed the
offense of Assault in the Fourth Degree.

On June 5, 2005, Clark County District Court Judge Vernon
Schreiber reviewed Deputy Kingrey's probable cause declaration and
found that "probable cause to arrest is established." (CP 234-35). In so
doing, Judge Schreiber confirmed that Deputy Kingrey had reasonable
grounds to believe that Fearghal McCarthy had committed a crime. As
noted above, Fearghal McCarthy's alleged self-serving statements
regarding Patricia McCarthy's anxiety medication and his unsupported
opinion that she was delusional was not material to determination of
probable cause because this information could not have rebutted the
corroborated sworn statements documenting an assault of a two-year old.
It is noteworthy that while Deputy Kingrey omitted Fearghal McCarthy's
immaterial and unsupported statements from his probable cause
declaration, he included these details in his official report which became a

part of the record in the criminal proceeding that ultimately culminated in Mr. McCarthy's plea to Disorderly Conduct. (CP 1526-1532).

In addition to the review by Judge Schreiber, Clark County Superior Court Judge Robert Lewis also reviewed the facts and expressly found a factual basis for the charge of Assault in the Fourth Degree when accepting Fearghal McCarthy's Alford/Newton and In re Barr plea. The Washington Supreme Court has held that "[a]n Alford/Newton plea allows a defendant to plead guilty in order to take advantage of a plea bargain even if he or she is unable or unwilling to admit guilt." State v. Zhao. 157 Wn.2d 188; 137 P.3d 835 (2006), citing State v. Newton, 87 Wn.2d 363, 372, 552 P.2d 682 (1976) and North Carolina v. Alford, 400 U.S. 25, 31 91 S. Ct. 160, 27 L.Ed. 2d 162 (1970). "The basic standard for determining the validity of an Alford plea is whether it "represents a voluntary and intelligent choice among the alternative courses of action open to the defendant." Id. If a defendant "intelligently concludes that his interests require entry of a guilty plea and the record before the judge contains strong evidence of actual guilt, such a plea is valid." In re Montoya, 109 Wn.2d 270 280-81, 744 P.2d 340 (1987), citing North Carolina v. Alford, 400 U.S. 25, 91 S. Ct. 160, 27 L. Ed.2d 162 (1970).

In our case, in order for Judge Lewis to accept Fearghal

McCarthy's *Alford/Newton* plea, he was required to find strong evidence

of "actual guilt," a much higher standard than the probable cause standard of reasonable belief that a crime had been committed. Moreover, because Fearghal McCarthy was entering an In re Barr plea to the lesser charge of Disorderly Conduct, Judge Lewis was also required to find that there was a factual basis to support the original charge. In an *In re Barr* plea, a defendant "chooses to plead to a related lesser charge that was not committed in order to avoid certain conviction for a greater offense." In re Barr 102 Wn.2d 265, 269-70, 684 P.2d 712 (1984). "For the trial court to make the proper evaluation, the plea bargain must be fully disclosed. The trial court must find a factual basis to support the original charge, and determine that defendant understands the relationship of his conduct to that charge. Defendant must be aware that the evidence available to the State on the original offense is sufficient to convince a jury of his guilt." *Id.* In the present case, it is undisputed that during the August 1, 2006, change of plea hearing, the judge found a factual basis for the original offenses of Assault in the Fourth Degree and Witness Tampering.

It is noteworthy that Judge Lewis made this finding in the context of a *plea*, after having an opportunity to hear any facts that Mr. McCarthy believed to be material to the case. Of course, Mr. McCarthy did not make any reference to the so-called material facts that he now contends should have defeated probable cause for his arrest because they would not

have made any difference in either judges' decision. Having not raised these so-called facts in any of the criminal proceedings, Mr. McCarthy cannot now credibly claim that Judge Schreiber or Judge Lewis lacked material information relating to probable cause or his plea bargain.

4. The trial court correctly granted summary judgment on plaintiffs' negligence claims against deputies Young, Paulson and Ferrell because these contacts did not arise from reported child abuse and because RCW 10.99.070 affords immunity for enforcing court no-contact orders.

In general a claim for negligent investigation does not exist in Washington unless the plaintiffs fall within a particular class of persons protected by statute. *See Roberson v. Perez*, 156 Wash.2d 33, 123 P.3d 844; *M.W.*, 149 Wn.2d at 591, 595, 70 P.3d 954. ("When a duty is owed to a specific individual or class of individuals, that person or persons may bring an action in negligence for breach of that duty"). In these cases, the Washington Supreme Court held that RCW 26.44 protects parents and children involved in reported instances of child abuse and implies a negligent investigation cause of action only where there is a reported instance of child abuse or neglect. *Id*.

In the present case, it is undisputed that Deputy Kingrey was investigating a reported instance of child abuse on June 3, 2005. This investigation and the shortcomings of Plaintiffs' claims are discussed in greater detail below. However, the undisputed facts demonstrate that

Deputies Young, Paulson and Ferrell were not investigating a reported instance of child abuse when they responded to Fearghal McCarthy's allegation that Patricia McCarthy had violated the no-contact order in various ways. Fearghal McCarthy's vague and passing references to his concern for the wellbeing of his children to Deputies Paulson and Young as they responded to the reported no-contact order violation does not constitute a reported instance of child abuse or trigger a duty under RCW 26.44. Even if such a duty could be triggered by such an passing reference, the undisputed facts demonstrate that Deputies Paulson and Young acted reasonably by including the information in their report and forwarding to the Prosecuting Attorney for review. Plaintiffs offer no authority for their contention that Deputies Paulson or Young were somehow required to arrest Patricia McCarthy for child abuse or neglect.

With regard to these deputies no-contact order violation investigations, RCW 10.99.070 provides law enforcement officers with immunity from liability when they respond to a domestic violence situation and effectuate an arrest based upon probable cause or enforce a court order in good faith. *See* RCW 10.99.070. Specifically, this statute provides:

A peace officer shall not be held liable in any civil action for an arrest based on probable cause, enforcement in good faith of a court order, or any other action or omission in good faith under this chapter arising from an alleged incident of domestic violence brought by any party to the incident.

Id.

The Washington Supreme Court has held that the question of whether good faith exists may be resolved as a matter of law when, as in this case, reasonable minds could reach but one conclusion and conclude that the officers acted in good faith. *See Roy v. City of Everett,* 118 Wn.2d 352, 366, 823 P.2d 1084 (1992).

As set forth above, Deputy Kingrey had probable cause to arrest Fearghal McCarthy on June 3, 2005, on the charge of Assault in the Fourth Degree – a *domestic violence* offense where Patricia McCarthy was a named victim. Accordingly, Deputy Kingrey is immune from liability for this domestic violence arrest pursuant to RCW 10.99.070, which provides immunity for arrests based on probable cause.

Similarly, the undisputed facts demonstrate that Deputies Young and Paulson are immune from civil liability because they were acting in good faith to enforce the court's no-contact orders when they responded to Fearghal McCarthy's complaints regarding Patricia McCarthy on October 5, 2005, and January 11, 2006. Because reasonable minds could not differ on this question, the question of good faith may be decided as a matter of law. Specifically, Deputies Young and Paulson acted in good faith by

responding to and investigating Mr. McCarthy's allegations, taking statements from all of the parties, preparing a report and forwarding to the Prosecuting Attorney for review.

Plaintiffs apparently attempt to deny Clark County immunity under RCW 10.99.070 by claiming that a jury could find that Deputies Young and Paulson acted unreasonably. This is not the standard for under RCW 10.99.070. Instead, the statute affords immunity from negligence claims if the facts demonstrate that the officer was acting in *good faith* when enforcing the court's order. Deputies Young and Paulson's actions far exceed this immunity standard because they followed their procedures, conducted an appropriate investigation of a complex and bitter family dispute, and referred the matter to the Prosecuting Attorney for review.

Finally, to the extent that Fearghal McCarthy's report to Deputy

Ferrell that Patricia McCarthy had improperly cashed a check can be

construed as a domestic violence matter, Deputy Ferrell is likewise

entitled to immunity from liability under RCW 10.99.070. Like Deputies

Young and Paulson, Deputy Ferrell acted in good faith when he

determined that Mr. McCarthy's complaints were a civil matter best

addressed in the context of his dissolution. Deputy Ferrell's good faith is

further evidenced by the fact that, despite his conclusion that this related

to a civil matter, he nonetheless prepared a criminal report and referred it to the Prosecuting Attorney for review.

5. The trial court correctly granted summary judgment on Plaintiffs' negligent investigation claims because Deputy Kingrey's investigation did not constitute or otherwise cause a "harmful placement decision."

In order to maintain a negligence investigation claim under RCW 26.44, a plaintiff must be able to prove that the investigation resulted in a "harmful placement decision." *Roberson v. Perez,* 156 Wn.2d 33, 123 P.3d 844; *M.W.,* 149 Wn.2d at 591, 595, 70 P.3d 954. In *MW,* the Court held that "harmful placement decision" should be construed narrowly to include situations where the state removes "a child from a non-abusive home, placing a child in an abusive home, or letting a child remain in an abusive home." *Id.* The *Roberson* Court has further held that the definition of "harmful placement decision" should not be expanded to include "constructive placement decisions," such as when a parent or guardian acts voluntarily and independently of the state to remove a child from the home pending a criminal investigation. *Id.* 

In the present case, despite this authority and all evidence to the contrary, Plaintiffs appear to argue that Deputy Kingrey's investigation caused or resulted in a "harmful placement decision." However, despite these assertions, there is no evidence that Deputy Kingrey caused a child

to remain in an abusive home when he allowed the children to remain with Patricia McCarthy on June 3, 2005. Rather, the undisputed facts demonstrate that at the time of Fearghal McCarthy's arrest, the McCarthy children had been *pre-emptively and constructively* removed from the home and taken to St. Joseph's Church by Patricia McCarthy when she and the children sought shelter following the assault. Furthermore, it is undisputed that at the time of Fearghal McCarthy's arrest on June 3, 2005, the McCarthy children were not in any imminent danger *because* they were with their mother at St. Joseph's Church. (Plaintiffs Conor and Cormac Opening Brief, p. 31; Fearghal McCarthy's Opening Brief, p. 6)

# a. The "substantial factor" test is improperly before the court and is inapplicable to Plaintiffs' claims.

The Washington Supreme Court has repeatedly articulated the causation standard to be applied in negligent investigation claims.

Specifically, the Court held in *Tyner* that "there are two elements to proximate causation: cause in fact and legal causation. *Tyner* at 82 (citing *Schooley v. Pinch's Deli Market, Inc.*, 134 Wn.2d 468, 478, 951 P.2d 749 (1998) "cause in fact refers to the actual, 'but for,' cause of the injury, i.e., 'but for' the defendants actions [would the] plaintiff be injured.") In contrast, "legal causation is a much more fluid concept. It is grounded in

policy determinations as to how far the consequences of a defendant's acts should extend." *Id*.

For the first time on appeal, and contrary to the *Tyner* Court's negligent investigation causation analysis, Plaintiffs inappropriately advance a 'substantial factor' causation theory. This causation theory and line of argument was not raised by Plaintiffs before the trial court and is therefore not properly before this Court. The Washington Court of Appeals has held that new legal theories and arguments may not be raised for the first time on appeal and that such arguments should be disregarded. *See State v. McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d 322, 332-33, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995); *Binschus v. Dep't of Corr.*, 345 P.3d 818, 831 n.37 (Wash. Ct. App. 2015). Specifically, the Washington Supreme Court held in *McFarland* that "[a]s a general rule, appellate courts will not consider issues raised for the first time on appeal."

In advancing the substantial factor test for the first time on appeal, Plaintiffs rely upon factually distinguishable discrimination cases for the proposition that Deputy Kingrey's investigation somehow "substantially" contributed to subsequent placement decisions and protective orders entered by the family court. (Plaintiffs Cormac and Conor's Opening Brief at 52-53, 61; Plaintiff Fearghal's Opening Brief at 45). Specifically, Plaintiffs cite *Mackay v. Acorn Custom Cabinetry, Inc.*, 127 Wn.2d 302,

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